

A Service of

ZBW

Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft Leibniz Information Centre for Economics

Coche, Joachim; Koivu, Matti; Nyholm, Ken; Poikonen, Vesa

Working Paper Foreign reserves management subject to a policy objective

ECB Working Paper, No. 624

Provided in Cooperation with: European Central Bank (ECB)

Suggested Citation: Coche, Joachim; Koivu, Matti; Nyholm, Ken; Poikonen, Vesa (2006) : Foreign reserves management subject to a policy objective, ECB Working Paper, No. 624, European Central Bank (ECB), Frankfurt a. M.

This Version is available at: https://hdl.handle.net/10419/153058

Standard-Nutzungsbedingungen:

Die Dokumente auf EconStor dürfen zu eigenen wissenschaftlichen Zwecken und zum Privatgebrauch gespeichert und kopiert werden.

Sie dürfen die Dokumente nicht für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, öffentlich zugänglich machen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Sofern die Verfasser die Dokumente unter Open-Content-Lizenzen (insbesondere CC-Lizenzen) zur Verfügung gestellt haben sollten, gelten abweichend von diesen Nutzungsbedingungen die in der dort genannten Lizenz gewährten Nutzungsrechte.

Terms of use:

Documents in EconStor may be saved and copied for your personal and scholarly purposes.

You are not to copy documents for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the documents publicly, to make them publicly available on the internet, or to distribute or otherwise use the documents in public.

If the documents have been made available under an Open Content Licence (especially Creative Commons Licences), you may exercise further usage rights as specified in the indicated licence.



WWW.ECONSTOR.EU



WORKING PAPER SERIES NO 624 / MAY 2006

FOREIGN RESERVES MANAGEMENT SUBJECT TO A POLICY OBJECTIVE

by Joachim Coche, Matti Koivu, Ken Nyholm, and Vesa Poikonen



WORKING PAPER SERIES

NO 624 / MAY 2006

FOREIGN RESERVES MANAGEMENT SUBJECT TO A POLICY OBJECTIVE'

by Joachim Coche², Matti Koivu², Ken Nyholm² and Vesa Poikonen³

This paper can be downloaded without charge from http://www.ecb.int or from the Social Science Research Network electronic library at http://ssrn.com/abstract_id=900394





In 2006 all ECB publications will feature a motif taken from the €5 banknote.



© European Central Bank, 2006

Address Kaiserstrasse 29 60311 Frankfurt am Main, Germany

Postfach 16 03 19 60066 Frankfurt am Main, Germany

Telephone +49 69 1344 0

Internet http://www.ecb.int

Fax +49 69 1344 6000

Telex 411 144 ecb d

All rights reserved.

Any reproduction, publication and reprint in the form of a different publication, whether printed or produced electronically, in whole or in part, is permitted only with the explicit written authorisation of the ECB or the author(s).

The views expressed in this paper do not necessarily reflect those of the European Central Bank.

The statement of purpose for the ECB Working Paper Series is available from the ECB website, http://www.ecb.int.

ISSN 1561-0810 (print) ISSN 1725-2806 (online)

CONTENTS

Abstract		4
Non-technical summary		5
1	Introduction	6
2	Model specification	7
3	One-period case	8
4	Multi-period case	- 11
5	Conclusion	14
References		16
Appendix: Derivation of the optimal solution		
Î	for the 1-stage problem	17
European Central Bank Working Paper Series		19

2

Abstract:

This paper studies the implications of introducing an explicit policy objective to the management of foreign reserves at a central bank. A dynamic model is developed which links together reserves management and the exchange rate by foreign exchange interventions. The exchange rate is modelled as a mean-reverting autoregressive process incorporating a linear response to interventions. The premise is that it is the objective of the central bank to prevent undervaluation of its currency. Given this objective, the model is formulated in a one- and a multi-period setting and solved to find the optimal asset allocation. The results show that asset allocation can significantly help in achieving the desired policy objective.

Keywords: Foreign reserves management, foreign exchange intervention, exchange rate modelling, optimal asset allocation

JEL classification: G11; F31

Non technical summary

This paper develops an optimization model to study how an explicit policy objective to keep the exchange rate above a given level affects foreign reserves management at a central bank. Foreign exchange interventions form the link between reserves management and the exchange rate. The problem is to find the right balance between risk and return to provide necessary liquidity for interventions in the foreign exchange market. A risky portfolio guarantees sufficient income in the long run, but presents the risk that the assets have to be sold at unfavourable conditions when intervention needs occur. With a safe strategy, on the other hand, the accumulation of portfolio wealth is less vulnerable to interventions, but may be inadequate for intervention needs in the long run.

The exchange rate is modelled by a mean-reverting autoregressive time series which explicitly incorporates the effect of interventions. Interventions are linked to the prevailing exchange rate and to the amount of wealth available. The central bank intervenes in the market every year the exchange rate is below a lower bound set by the central bank itself – if it has enough reserves for it. In a multi-period framework, the annual intervention amounts are kept fixed at a level seen sufficient to have a signalling effect on the market.

The developed model is first studied in a single period setting. This proves to be too simplistic to reveal any significant interplay between asset allocation and the policy objective, but since the one period model can be solved analytically it allows analysing how prevailing market conditions – such as the current level of exchange rates and the risk-return properties of the risky asset – affect the optimal reserves portfolio.

A multi-period formulation is necessary for a more thorough analysis of the model at hand. The model no longer exhibits an analytical solution, and numerical methods are needed to find the optimal solution. The results show that portfolio choice has a clear impact on achieving the given policy objective of defending the currency from undervaluation. Numerical sensitivity analysis indicates that conclusions from the analytical solution of the one-period model hold also in the multi-period case.

1. Introduction

This paper examines the effects that arise from having an explicit policy objective to foreign reserves management at a central bank and studies the implications this has for the optimal reserves allocation. An optimization model is developed capturing the interplay between foreign reserve management and exchange rates through introduction of interventions. This paper provides stylised solutions for the reserves' optimal asset allocation both in a one-period and a multi-period setting.

The objective is to keep the exchange rate above a given threshold by means of intervening in the foreign exchange markets. The problem is thus to find the right balance of risk and return to provide liquidity for these operations. In the long run, investments would be made to the asset with higher expected return, but this presents the risk that in the short run positions have to be unwounded when the asset value is low and the domestic currency is under pressure.

The goal of this paper is to better understand the link between asset management and the policy requirements of reserves holdings. In practice, central banks carefully separate between monetary and exchange rate policy on the one hand and investment activities on the other. Market participants (i.e. counterparties of central banks) should not be in a position to deduce policy decisions from adjustments in the portfolios, and central banks' investment performance should not benefit from non-public information. Central banks carefully reflect these requirements in designing the governance structures for reserves management (Cardon and Coche 2004). This paper tries to shed some light on the investment problem in principle while abstracting from the practical requirements for reserves management outlined above.

Central bank interventions are an active subject of research, but most literature is focused on the effects and reasons for interventions [see, e.g., Humpage (2003) and Sarno and Taylor (2001) for extensive literature surveys]. Various reasons for interventions have been identified in the literature (Kim and Sheen (2002), Fatum et al (2003)). These comprise exchange rate manipulation (decreasing excess volatility, correcting trends) as a primary objective or secondary to a central bank's general mandate. Academics have mixed views on whether interventions have a lasting effect on FX rates. For example, Fatum et al (2003) and Dominguez (2005) report evidence supporting intervention, while Bonser-Neal et al (1998) and Humpage (1999) provide results to the contrary. In the context of this paper it is assumed that foreign exchange interventions are effective, albeit the degree of effectiveness can vary and is considered as one parameter in the model.

A two-country model with a small and a big country is considered. The perspective is on the reserves management of the small country which holds foreign reserves invested in the big country. It is assumed that interventions by the small country can in principle affect the exchange rate between the two countries. A simplified setting of a risky and a risk-free asset is used with the return of the risky asset following a normal distribution. The assets are denominated in the currency of the big country.



In a one-period setting the model can be solved analytically. This solution provides useful insight into the problem despite the simplistic setting, but the asset allocation decision is seen to help only marginally with the policy objective. However, this conclusion is to be expected since the problem is intertemporal in nature and thus calls for a solution within a multi-stage model setting. In this setup, numerical solution methods are needed since the model can no longer be solver analytically. With simulation techniques it is seen that asset allocation has a major effect on the exchange rate. More specifically it is found that the optimal asset allocation can substantially reduce the probability of adverse exchange rate levels. Given the specific assumptions made in this study a rather high share of the risky asset is found to best serve the needs of the central bank.

The paper is organized as follows. Section 2 introduces the objective function and the different constraints used together with the time-series model for the exchange rate. In section 3 a one-period model is considered which is generalized to multi-period setting in section 4. Section 5 concludes.

2. Model Specification

The exchange rate, the price of the foreign currency in terms of the home currency, at time *t* is denoted by e_t and is assumed to have a time-invariant natural level *P*.³ A level of ρP ($\rho < I$) is seen to be the lowest exchange rate acceptable and the central bank's objective is to prevent the exchange rate from falling below this barrier.⁴ Reflecting this view the objective function is defined as minimizing the probability of exchange rate falling below ρP . This approach is relatively simple to work with numerically, and can be solved analytically in a single stage framework under some general assumptions. The aim is to make the occurrence of exchange rates under a certain barrier as rare as possible, without caring about the actual foreign exchange rates when this happens. This resembles a Value-at-Risk approach where only the probability of the tail is of interest – not the tail distribution.

In an intertemporal setting with *T* periods the probability of falling below the critical barrier is taken into account for every period. Time preferences are introduced by a time preference factor δ . In this general setting the objective function is given by:

$$\min_{\alpha} \sum_{t=1}^{T} \delta^{t} \operatorname{prob}(e_{t} < \rho P).$$
(1)

When δ is less than *I*, more emphasis is placed on the near future. As δ equals one, all periods become equally important. With δ greater than *I* more weight is placed in the distant future.

Interventions are seen as necessary and exogenous events, from the perspective of foreign reserves management, triggered when the exchange rate falls below a pre-defined level. Reserves managers can

³ The natural level of the exchange rate can be determined by using the purchasing power parity (PPP) or the uncovered interest rate parity (UIP), for example.

⁴ The model could be generalized to a situation where a corridor for the exchange rate is defended, as in ERM2. This would, however, require the introduction of a home currency portfolio in addition to the foreign reserves to make interventions possible to the other direction. For simplicity, this study considers only the case where a lower boundary is defended.

minimise the probability of an exchange rate shortfall by choosing the weight of the risky asset α which affects growth rate and volatility of wealth accumulation over time. Higher wealth translates into a higher number of credible interventions.

The exchange rate at time t is assumed to respond to interventions by an amount determined by an efficiency parameter γ and the (fixed) volume of foreign reserves used for intervention at time t, denoted by I_t . Foreign exchange rates are assumed to exhibit mean-reversion around the fundamental value P. Adding these properties to an AR(1)-process leads to the following model for exchange rates

$$e_t = (1-b)P + be_{t-1} + \mathcal{Y}_t + \mathcal{E}_t = P + b(e_{t-1} - P) + \mathcal{Y}_t + \mathcal{E}_t, \quad \mathcal{E}_t \sim N(0, \sigma_e^2), \quad t = 1, 2, \dots, T,$$

where l-b determines the magnitude of mean-reversion. Interventions are assumed to take place at time t and have an immediate effect on the exchange rate. The introduction of interventions causes the distribution of the exchange rate to be right-skewed.

The intervention policy represents the view that interventions have a signalling effect on the currency markets. In this case, the amount of intervention will always be a constant proportion of initial wealth. The central bank observes the level of exchange rates without intervention at time t and immediately intervenes when necessary, if enough foreign reserves are available. Accordingly, intervention volumes are defined as:

$$I_{t} = \begin{cases} cW_{0}, if (1-b)P + be_{t-1} + \varepsilon_{t} < \rho P and W_{t} > cW_{0} \\ 0, otherwise \end{cases},$$

where *c* represents the proportion of initial wealth used for interventions. In this case the volume of reserves limits the number of interventions that can be carried out. The term cW_0 can be considered as an intervention volume that gives a credible signal to the market.

The risk-free one-period return r^{f} is assumed to be constant over time. The one-period return of the risky asset, denoted by r_{t} , is assumed to be normally and independently distributed over time with time-invariant mean μ_{r} and volatility σ_{r} . The exchange rate error term and the risky return are for simplicity assumed to be independent (a joint normal distribution can also be used, see the appendix for details). The amount of wealth left after intervention at time *t*-*I* is invested according to the chosen asset allocation. Wealth before a possible intervention at time *t* is thus:

$$W_t = (1 + r^f + \alpha(r_t - r^f))(W_{t-1} - I_{t-1}), \quad r_t \sim N(\mu_r, \sigma_r^2), \quad t = 1, 2, \dots, T.$$

3. One-period case

This section formulates and solves the problem in a one-period setting. The main motivation for this simplified framework is that the problem can be solved analytically. Despite the simplicity of this approach the solution shows nontrivial dependencies between parameters and the optimal asset allocation. A closer inspection reveals that with any reasonable parameter values the actual impact of asset allocation on the exchange rate remains marginal.

In the one-period setting the central bank has an initial wealth W_0 of which a proportion α is invested in the risky asset and a proportion I- α in the risk-free asset. After one time step the risky return r_1 and the innovation ε_1 become known, after which an intervention I_1 is conducted if necessary. In this case the parameter δ is not needed and the model becomes

$$\min_{\alpha} prob (e_1 < \rho P)$$

subject to
$$W_1 = (1 + r^f + \alpha (r_1 - r^f)) W_0, \quad r_1 \sim N(\mu_r, \sigma_r^2),$$

$$e_{1} = (1-b)P + be_{0} + \mathcal{I}_{1} + \mathcal{E}_{1}, \quad \mathcal{E}_{1} \sim N(0, \sigma_{e}^{2}),$$
$$I_{1} = \begin{cases} cW_{1}, \text{ if } (1-b)P + be_{0} + \mathcal{E}_{1} < \rho P\\ 0, \text{ otherwise} \end{cases}.$$

No interventions are assumed to be done at time θ .

Since the amount of final wealth W_I - I_I does not enter the objective function, it can be assumed that the full amount of accumulated wealth at time I will be used to intervene. In fact, this would always be optimal if the amount of intervention was chosen freely.

Accordingly, the model is written as:

$$\min_{\alpha} \operatorname{prob}((1-b)P + be_0 + \gamma(1+r_1^f + \alpha(r_1 - r_1^f))W_0 + \varepsilon_1 < \rho P)$$

To obtain an analytical solution for this model a distribution needs to be assumed for the stochastic factors r_1 and ε_1 . They are assumed to be independently normally distributed with means μ and θ and volatilities σ_r and σ_e , respectively. The independence assumption can be relaxed by assuming a bivariate normal distribution for r_1 and ε_1 , and the initial wealth can be assumed to be *I* by scaling γ appropriately.

The optimal solution in the general case of a joint normal distribution is derived in Appendix 1. Assuming zero correlation, $\sigma_{re}=0$, leads to the following optimal solution

$$\overline{\alpha} = \gamma^{-1} \sigma_e^2 \frac{\mu_r - r^f}{\sigma_r^2} \left(P(1-\rho) + b(e_0 - P) + (1+r^f) \gamma \right)^{-1}.$$
(2)

To analyze this solution it is assumed that all parameters are strictly positive and fulfil the relations:

$$\rho, b < 1,$$

$$\mu_r > r^f,$$

$$e_0 \ge \rho P.$$

These natural assumptions ensure that the optimal α is always positive. This can be seen by adding and subtracting *P* ρ *b* to the denominator and rearranging the terms

$$\overline{\alpha} = \gamma^{-1} \sigma_e^2 \frac{\mu_r - r^f}{\sigma_r^2} \left(P(1-\rho) + be_0 - P(1-\rho)b - P\rho b + (1+r^f)\gamma \right)^{-1}$$

$$= \gamma^{-1} \sigma_e^2 \frac{\mu_r - r^f}{\sigma_r^2} \left(P(1-\rho)(1-b) + b(e_0 - P\rho) + (1+r^f)\gamma \right)^{-1} > 0.$$
(3)

All of these terms are positive which makes it easy to identify the effect of each parameter.

The first conclusion is that the optimal weight of the risky asset increases with the variance of the exchange rate. A natural interpretation for this is that, holding gamma constant, higher expected wealth is required to limit the left tail of a wider distribution of the exchange rate. For higher expected return more money needs to be invested in the risky asset.

The third term, excess return divided by its variance, represents the attractiveness of the risky asset. The more attractive the risky asset is the more the central bank is willing to invest in it.

The effectiveness of interventions, γ , only occurs in the denominator and thus decreases investment in the risky asset. This is natural as the more impact interventions have the less money is needed to counter adverse movements in the exchange rate.

A higher critical level of the exchange rate ρP increases the volume of interventions necessary to rebalance the exchange rate. Hence the greater share of the risky asset in the optimal asset allocation.

The effect of the AR-coefficient *b* depends on the sign of e_0 -*P*. This is seen from equation (2). If the initial exchange rate equals the desired level *P*, then the value of *b* has no effect on the optimal α . This is due to the fact that if the exchange rate is already in its mean then the amount of mean-reversion has no effect to the value at time 1.

If $e_0 > P$ then stronger mean-reversion means a higher probability of a low exchange rate in the next period. This is reflected in the solution by the fact that greater mean-reversion increases the amount of risky asset holdings in the optimal portfolio.

Finally, in case $e_0 < P$, greater mean-reversion decreases the probability of exchange rate undervaluation at time *I* and hence reduces the need of risk-taking in the portfolio.

To assess the gains from choosing the optimal fraction of the risky asset, the objective value using a riskfree portfolio is compared to the value achieved by the use of the optimal portfolio. For illustrative purposes the following parameter values were used:⁵

$$r^{f} = 0.05, \mu_{r} = 0.1, \sigma_{r} = 0.15, \sigma_{e} = 0.1, \gamma = 0.1, b = 0.9, P = 1, e_{0} = 0.9 and \rho = 0.8.$$

The period length is assumed to be one year.

The derivation of the optimal solution provides the following formula for the objective function (see the appendix)

$$prob(e_{1} - \rho P < 0) = \Phi\left(-\frac{be_{0} + P(1 - \rho - b) + \mathcal{W}_{0}\left(1 + r^{f} + \alpha(\mu_{r} - r^{f})\right)}{\sqrt{\alpha^{2}\gamma^{2}W_{0}^{2}\sigma_{r}^{2} + \sigma_{e}^{2}}}\right)$$

Evaluating this formula for different values of α produces the graph in Figure 1.



⁵ Other reasonable parameter values were tried out as well producing similar results with only a little gain from asset allocation



Figure 1 Objective function for the one-stage problem

The solution is 1.03 which can also be directly calculated using the analytical formula (2). This exercise shows that the gains from choosing the optimal portfolio, with $\alpha = 1.03$, are limited: the relative decrease in the optimum value obtained with the optimal asset allocation is 6.3% when compared to investing solely in the risk-free asset.

4. Multi-period case

The analysis in previous sections shows that in a one-period setting, with reasonable parameter values, asset allocation decision only marginally helps in fulfilling the policy objective. To further examine the impact, this section extends the problem to a multi-period setting. In the intertemporal case, an analytical solution can no longer be found; instead the importance of asset allocation is studied with simulation methods.

As discussed in Section 2, interventions are assumed to be a constant proportion of initial wealth. In contrast to the one-period model, where more wealth translated into larger interventions, sufficient wealth guarantees that interventions can be carried out when necessary. Using the specifications introduced in Section 2, the analytical model is in the multi-period case:

$$\min_{\alpha} \sum_{t=1}^{T} \delta^{t} \operatorname{prob}\left(e_{t} < \rho P\right)$$

subject to

$$\begin{split} W_{t} &= (1 + r^{f} + \alpha (r_{t} - r^{f}))(W_{t-1} - I_{t-1}), \quad r_{t} \sim N(\mu_{r}, \sigma_{r}^{2}), \quad t = 1, 2, ..., T, \\ e_{t} &= (1 - b)P + be_{t-1} + \gamma I_{t} + \varepsilon_{t}, \quad \varepsilon_{t} \sim N(0, \sigma_{e}^{2}), \quad t = 1, 2, ..., T, \\ I_{t} &= \begin{cases} cW_{0}, if(1 - b)P + be_{t-1} + \varepsilon_{t} < \rho P \text{ and } W_{t} > cW_{0} \\ 0, otherwise \end{cases}, \quad t = 1, 2, ..., T. \end{split}$$

The problem is simulated using the same parameter values, except for the higher value of γ , as in Section 3 for the one-period case:

 $r^{f} = 0.05, \mu_{r} = 0.1, \sigma_{r} = 0.15, \sigma_{e} = 0.1, \gamma = 0.3, b = 0.9, P = 1, e_{0} = 0.9 and \rho = 0.8.$

Proportion of wealth used for interventions, c, is assumed to be 30%. Together with the effectiveness of 0.3 this means that interventions shift the exchange rate up by 0.9 standard deviations. This is roughly equal to the "average" effect of interventions in the one-period case where all wealth was, for analytical tractability, assumed to be used.

The period length is again assumed to be one year and the investment horizon is 30 years. In addition, $\delta = I$ which means that the central bank is indifferent with respect to the times the exchange rate falls below the threshold value.

Thirty-year paths with one year periods are simulated for the risky return and the exchange rate error term. The simulation is done using Monte Carlo sampling with 100 000 paths. The objective is evaluated against the simulated sample paths with the value of α fixed across time and ranging from 0 to 2 with an interval of 0.025. To confirm that the found optimum is indeed a global one, the evaluations were also done on a larger scale with α ranging from -50 to 50. The results are shown in Figure 2.



Figure 2 The simulated objective function in the multi-period case. The figure on the left shows the objective values with risky asset weights close to the optimum of 0.95, and the right figure shows the same objective function on a larger scale. Y-axis values represent the average probability of exchange rate falling below ρP .

The objective is divided by the number of periods to ease comparison with the single period case. This has the interpretation of an average probability for the exchange rate falling below the barrier. The optimal weight $\alpha = 0.95$. In contrast to the one-period setting, this example shows significant gain from choosing the optimal instead of the risk-free portfolio: the objective value decreases by 19.6 %.

This case is further analyzed by examining the sensitivity of the optimal α with respect to different parameter values. The same 100 000 scenarios as above are used for the stochastic terms. More scenarios would be necessary to eliminate numerical inaccuracy which is apparent in some the figures. However, 100 000 sample paths are enough to reveal the general pattern of dependency.

First, the dependence of the optimal risky asset weight on the exchange rate volatility is studied. The optimal value is solved numerically in the same way as before for σ_e ranging from 0 to 0.2 with steps of 0.02. The results are shown in Figure 3.



Figures 3 and 4 Dependence of optimal α on the volatility of the exchange rate error term (left) and the volatility of the risky asset (right)

The simulation shows that the need for risk-taking increases with the volatility of the exchange rate error term. The same conclusion was reached in the one-period case. Higher volatility of exchange rate increases both the occurrence of interventions and the magnitude of deviations from the critical barrier. Thus, higher expected wealth is required to hold the exchange rate above ρP . The sensitivity of the optimal solution seems to be slightly decreasing as a function of σ_e .

The sensitivity of the optimal solution on the risky asset volatility is analyzed for values of σ_r between 0.1 and 0.3 with steps of 0.02. The results are shown in Figure 4. The results show a clear negative dependence on risky asset volatility as expected - greater variability in the return of the risky asset makes it more undesirable. Sensitivity of the optimal solution seems to decrease as σ_r grows.

To assess the dependence of optimal α on the initial exchange rate the same analysis is performed with the values 0.7, 0.8, ..., 1.3 for e_0 . Figure 6 shows the results. The optimal risky asset weight decreases as a function of the initial exchange rate in a nearly linear manner. Higher initial exchange rate makes interventions less frequent and thus a smaller expected level of wealth is sufficient.



Figures 6 and 7 Dependence of the optimal α on the initial exchange rate (left) and on the time preference factor δ (right)

Figure 7 shows the results for the time preference factor δ with values 0.7, 0.8, ..., 1.5. When $\delta < 1$ the near future is emphasized. In this case, the optimal share of the risky asset decreases somewhat as δ decreases. This is due to the fact that if only the next couple of years are of interest, the expected growth of wealth is not relevant, since initial wealth alone is sufficient for three interventions.

When the value of δ is over 1 the distant future gets a bigger weight and the optimal weight of the risky asset increases slowly. Interestingly with values of δ over 1.1 the solution remains unchanged at slightly below 1. A likely explanation for this is that as δ increases the relative weight of the terminal probability increases strongly, and thus the solution converges to the solution of a problem where only the exchange rate at T=30 is of interest. Already at δ =1.5 with a 30-year horizon the weight of the terminal probability is half of all the other weights combined.

As a last test, the sensitivity of the solution to different time horizons is analyzed. Figure 8 shows the results of a simulation where the value of T ranged between 10 and 90 with an interval of 10 years. The same set of paths was used for the first 30 years. The results show an increasing trend in the optimal asset weight with respect to time horizon. The optimal weight increases faster for the first 30 years and then seems to be slowly converging towards a value slightly above 1. When the time horizon gets longer the near future starts to weigh less as all years are equally important in the objective function. To guarantee sufficient wealth in the long run, more weight should be given to the risky asset.



Figure 8 Dependence of optimal α on the time horizon T

5. Conclusion

This study presented a stylised model for central bank's foreign reserves management incorporating foreign exchange interventions explicitly. The analysis highlights the importance of the interplay between intervention policy and asset allocation decision.

A one-period formulation of the problem was first studied. The main motivation to analyze this simplified case is that it can be solved analytically. From the explicit solution it was concluded that the main determinants of asset allocation are the initial level of exchange rate relative to the exogenously



determined equilibrium level, volatility of the exchange rate and the excess return and volatility of the risky asset.

The analytical solution gives valuable insight into the determinants of the asset allocation decision, but in the one-period problem the asset allocation was found to help only marginally in achieving the policy objective. In the more general multi-period setting an optimal asset allocation was found to substantially reduce the probability of adverse exchange rate levels. Given the specific assumptions made in this study we find a rather high share of the risky asset.

In future research, it might be useful to extend the analysis in a multi-asset setting with dynamic asset allocations (using e.g. stochastic optimization). Other useful extensions could be to model the size of the foreign exchange market and tie the effectiveness of the interventions to this total turnover. Another generalization could be to build models for the two countries' consumer price indices and tie the mean-reversion level of the exchange rate dynamically to the implied purchasing power parity. One interesting extension to the model could be the use of time-varying volatility, using a GARCH specification for example, since there is evidence that interventions also affect exchange rate volatility, not just the level.

The adequate amount of liquidity is a hard problem in the management of foreign reserves. An interesting subject for future research would be to study this question with the model presented in this paper by replacing the risky and risk-free assets by a liquid and an illiquid asset. Then the liquidity premium would be lost if the illiquid asset has to be sold before maturity to answer intervention needs. Non-linear transaction costs e.g. in a stochastic programming model could possibly be used to accomplish this.



References

Bonser-Neal, C., V.V. Roley and G.H.Jr. Sellon (1998), Monetary Policy Actions, Intervention, and Exchange Rates: A Reexamination of the Empirical Relationships Using Federal Funds Rate Target Data, *Journal of Business*, Vol. 71, No 2, pp. 147-177

Cardon, P. and J. Coche (2004), Strategic asset allocation for foreign exchange reserves, *Risk Management for Central Bank Foreign Reserves*, European Central Bank, pp. 13-27

Dominguez, K.M.E. (2005), When Do Central Bank Interventions Influence Intra-Daily and Longer-Term Exchange Rate Movements?, *Journal of International Money and Finance*, forthcoming

Fatum, R. and M.M. Hutchison (2003), Effectiveness of Official Daily Foreign Exchange Market Intervention Operations in Japan, *NBER Working Paper*, Vol. 9648 (April)

Humpage, O.F. (1999), U.S. Intervention: Assessing the Probability of Success, *Journal of Money Credit* and Banking, Vol. 31, No 4, pp. 731-747

Humpage, O.F. (2003), Government intervention in the foreign exchange market, *Cleveland Federal Bank Working Papers*, Vol. 0315

Kim, S. and J. Sheen (2002), The determinants of foreign exchange intervention by central banks: Evidence from Australia, *Journal of International Money and Finance*, Vol. 21, pp. 619-49

Sarno, L. and M.P. Taylor (2001), Official Intervention in the Foreign Exchange Markets: Is it Effective and, If So, How Does It Work?, *Journal of Economic Literature*, Vol. 34, pp. 839-868



Appendix: Derivation of the optimal solution for the 1-stage problem

This annex derives the optimal solution for the 1-stage model described in Section 3. The error term in the exchange rate and the risky asset return are assumed to be jointly normally distributed. In the derivation, the risky asset return is denoted without the subscript 1 to simplify notation.

The problem is to minimize the following probability

$$prob(e_{1} - \rho P < 0)$$

$$= prob((1-b)P + be_{0} + \varepsilon_{1} + \mathcal{I}_{1} - \rho P < 0)$$

$$= prob((1-b)P + be_{0} + \varepsilon_{1} + \gamma(1 + r^{f} + \alpha(r - r^{f}))W_{0} - \rho P < 0)$$

$$= prob(\varepsilon_{1} + r\alpha\gamma W_{0} + P(1 - \rho - b) + W_{0}\gamma(r^{f} - \alpha r^{f} + 1) + be_{0} < 0)$$
If $\binom{r_{1}}{\varepsilon_{1}} \sim N\binom{\mu_{r}}{0} \binom{\sigma_{r}^{2}}{\sigma_{re}} \binom{\sigma_{re}}{\sigma_{e}^{2}}$ are jointly normal, then
$$e_{1} - \rho P = (\alpha\gamma W_{0} - 1)\binom{r}{\varepsilon_{1}} - \alpha\gamma W_{0}r^{f} + P(1 - \rho) + b(e_{0} - P) + \gamma W_{0}(1 + r^{f}) \sim N(\mu, \sigma^{2}),$$

where the mean value is given by

$$\mu = \alpha \mathcal{W}_{0}(\mu_{r} - r^{f}) + P(1 - \rho) + b(e_{0} - P) + \mathcal{W}_{0}(1 + r^{f})$$

and variance equals

$$\sigma^{2} = (\alpha \gamma W_{0} \quad 1) \begin{pmatrix} \sigma_{r}^{2} & \sigma_{re} \\ \sigma_{re} & \sigma_{e}^{2} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha \gamma W_{0} \\ 1 \end{pmatrix} = \alpha^{2} \gamma^{2} W_{0}^{2} \sigma_{r}^{2} + 2 \alpha \gamma W_{0} \sigma_{re} + \sigma_{e}^{2}.$$

Thus

$$prob(e_1 - \rho P < 0) = \Phi(-\frac{\mu}{\sigma}) = \Phi\left(-\frac{\alpha \mathcal{W}_0 \mu_r + be_0 + P(1-\rho-b) + \mathcal{W}_0(r^f - \alpha r^f + 1)}{\sqrt{\alpha^2 \gamma^2 \mathcal{W}_0^2 \sigma_r^2 + 2\alpha \mathcal{W}_0 \sigma_{re} + \sigma_e^2}}\right) = \Phi(g(\alpha)),$$

where the argument of the cumulative distribution function has been denoted by $g(\alpha)$. Φ is strictly increasing and is thus minimized when its argument g is minimized. To find the minimum, a derivative of g with respect to α is taken, which has to equal zero at a minimum

$$g'(a) = \frac{W_0}{(\alpha^2 \gamma^2 W_0^2 \sigma_r^2 + 2\alpha \gamma W_0 \sigma_{re} + \sigma_e^2)^{\frac{3}{2}}} \Big[\sigma_{re} \Big(P(1-\rho) + b(e_0 - P) + \gamma (1+r^f - \alpha(\mu_r - r^f)) W_0 \Big) - \sigma_e^2(\mu_r - r^f) + \alpha \sigma_r^2 \gamma \Big(P(1-\rho) + b(e_0 - P) + \gamma (1+r^f) W_0 \Big) W_0 \Big].$$
(*)

This expression is zero when the expression in the brackets vanishes, i.e. when α equals

$$\overline{\alpha} = \frac{\sigma_e^2(\mu_r - r^f) - \sigma_{re} \left(P(1-\rho) + b(e_0 - P) + (1+r^f) \mathcal{W}_0 \right)}{-(\mu_r - r^f) \mathcal{W}_0 \sigma_{re} + \sigma_r^2 \mathcal{W}_0 \gamma \left(P(1-\rho) + b(e_0 - P) + (1+r^f) \mathcal{W}_0 \right)} = -(\mathcal{W}_0)^{-1} \frac{\sigma_e^2(\mu_r - r^f) - \sigma_{re} \left(P(1-\rho) + b(e_0 - P) + (1+r^f) \mathcal{W}_0 \right)}{\sigma_{re}(\mu_r - r^f) - \sigma_r^2 \left(P(1-\rho) + b(e_0 - P) + (1+r^f) \mathcal{W}_0 \right)},$$

assuming that the denominator

$$\sigma_{re}(\mu_r - r^f) - \sigma_r^2 \left(P(1 - \rho) + b(e_0 - P) + \gamma(1 + r^f) W_0 \right)$$
(**)

is nonzero. This holds when $\sigma_{re} \leq 0$ and $e_0 \geq \rho P$, which can be seen by adding and subtracting $P\rho b$ from the latter term to get

$$\sigma_{re}(\mu_r - r^f) - \sigma_r^2 \left(P(1-\rho) + be_0 - P(1-\rho)b - P\rho b + \gamma(1+r^f)W_0 \right)$$

= $\sigma_{re}(\mu_r - r^f) - \sigma_r^2 \left(P(1-\rho)(1-b) + b(e_0 - P\rho) + \gamma(1+r^f)W_0 \right)$

which is always negative because b < l and $\rho < l$.

To verify that the found extremum is actually a minimum, we collect the terms containing α together from the expression (*) for the derivative:

$$\alpha \Big(-\sigma_{re} \gamma(\mu_r - r^f) W_0 + \sigma_r^2 \gamma \Big(P(1-\rho) + b(e_0 - P) + \gamma(1+r^f) W_0 \Big) W_0 \Big).$$

The multiplier of α equals minus the expression (**) which was under the assumptions $\sigma_{re} \leq 0$ and $e_0 \geq \rho P$ proved to be negative. What has been shown is that

$$g'(\alpha) = f(\alpha)(c_1\alpha + c_2)$$

where c_1 and c_2 are constants (i.e. do not depend on α), c_1 is positive and f is positive for all α . In addition,

$$g'(\overline{\alpha}) = 0 \Leftrightarrow c_1\overline{\alpha} + c_2 = 0.$$

To show that an extremum is a global minimum, it is enough to prove that $g'(\overline{\alpha} - \Delta) < 0$ and $g'(\overline{\alpha} + \Delta) > 0$ for all $\Delta > 0$. But this is immediate:

 $g'(\overline{\alpha} + \Delta) = f(\overline{\alpha} + \Delta)(c_1(\overline{\alpha} + \Delta) + c_2) = f(\overline{\alpha} + \Delta)c_1\Delta > 0,$

 $g'(\overline{\alpha} - \Delta) = f(\overline{\alpha} - \Delta)(c_1(\overline{\alpha} - \Delta) + c_2) = -f(\overline{\alpha} - \Delta)c_1\Delta < 0.$



European Central Bank Working Paper Series

For a complete list of Working Papers published by the ECB, please visit the ECB's website (http://www.ecb.int)

- 585 "Are specific skills an obstacle to labor market adjustment? Theory and an application to the EU enlargement" by A. Lamo, J. Messina and E. Wasmer, February 2006.
- 586 "A method to generate structural impulse-responses for measuring the effects of shocks in structural macro models" by A. Beyer and R. E. A. Farmer, February 2006.
- 587 "Determinants of business cycle synchronisation across euro area countries" by U. Böwer and C. Guillemineau, February 2006.
- 588 "Rational inattention, inflation developments and perceptions after the euro cash changeover" by M. Ehrmann, February 2006.
- 589 "Forecasting economic aggregates by disaggregates" by D. F. Hendry and K. Hubrich, February 2006.
- 590 "The pecking order of cross-border investment" by C. Daude and M. Fratzscher, February 2006.
- 591 "Cointegration in panel data with breaks and cross-section dependence" by A. Banerjee and J. L. Carrion-i-Silvestre, February 2006.
- 592 "Non-linear dynamics in the euro area demand for MI" by A. Calza and A. Zaghini, February 2006.
- 593 "Robustifying learnability" by R. J. Tetlow and P. von zur Muehlen, February 2006.
- 594 "The euro's trade effects" by R. Baldwin, comments by J. A. Frankel and J. Melitz, March 2006.
- 595 "Trends and cycles in the euro area: how much heterogeneity and should we worry about it?" by D. Giannone and L. Reichlin, comments by B. E. Sørensen and M. McCarthy, March 2006.
- 596 "The effects of EMU on structural reforms in labour and product markets" by R. Duval and J. Elmeskov, comments by S. Nickell and J. F. Jimeno, March 2006.
- 597 "Price setting and inflation persistence: did EMU matter?" by I. Angeloni, L. Aucremanne, M. Ciccarelli, comments by W. T. Dickens and T. Yates, March 2006.
- 598 "The impact of the euro on financial markets" by L. Cappiello, P. Hördahl, A. Kadareja and S. Manganelli, comments by X. Vives and B. Gerard, March 2006.
- 599 "What effects is EMU having on the euro area and its Member Countries? An overview" by F. P. Mongelli and J. L. Vega, March 2006.
- 600 "A speed limit monetary policy rule for the euro area" by L. Stracca, April 2006.
- 601 "Excess burden and the cost of inefficiency in public services provision" by A. Afonso and V. Gaspar, April 2006.
- 602 "Job flow dynamics and firing restrictions: evidence from Europe" by J. Messina and G. Vallanti, April 2006.

- 603 "Estimating multi-country VAR models" by F. Canova and M. Ciccarelli, April 2006.
- 604 "A dynamic model of settlement" by T. Koeppl, C. Monnet and T. Temzelides, April 2006.
- 605 "(Un)Predictability and macroeconomic stability" by A. D'Agostino, D. Giannone and P. Surico, April 2006.
- 606 "Measuring the importance of the uniform nonsynchronization hypothesis" by D. A. Dias, C. Robalo Marques and J. M. C. Santos Silva, April 2006.
- 607 "Price setting behaviour in the Netherlands: results of a survey" by M. Hoeberichts and A. Stokman, April 2006.
- 608 "How does information affect the comovement between interest rates and exchange rates?" by M. Sánchez, April 2006.
- 609 "The elusive welfare economics of price stability as a monetary policy objective: why New Keynesian central bankers should validate core inflation" by W. H. Buiter, April 2006.
- 610 "Real-time model uncertainty in the United States: the Fed from 1996-2003" by R. J. Tetlow and B. Ironside, April 2006.
- 611 "Monetary policy, determinacy, and learnability in the open economy" by J. Bullard and E. Schaling, April 2006.
- 612 "Optimal fiscal and monetary policy in a medium-scale macroeconomic model" by S. Schmitt-Grohé and M. Uribe, April 2006.
- 613 "Welfare-based monetary policy rules in an estimated DSGE model of the US economy" by M. Juillard, P. Karam, D. Laxton and P. Pesenti, April 2006.
- 614 "Expenditure switching vs. real exchange rate stabilization: competing objectives for exchange rate policy" by M. B. Devereux and C. Engel, April 2006.
- 615 "Quantitative goals for monetary policy" by A. Fatás, I. Mihov and A. K. Rose, April 2006.
- 616 "Global financial transmission of monetary policy shocks" by M. Ehrmann and M. Fratzscher, April 2006.
- 617 "New survey evidence on the pricing behaviour of Luxembourg firms" by P. Lünnemann and T. Y. Mathä, May 2006.
- 618 "The patterns and determinants of price setting in the Belgian industry" by D. Cornille and M. Dossche, May 2006.
- 619 "Cyclical inflation divergence and different labor market institutions in the EMU" by A. Campolmi and E. Faia, May 2006.
- 620 "Does fiscal policy matter for the trade account? A panel cointegration study" by K. Funke and C.Nickel, May 2006.
- 621 "Assessing predetermined expectations in the standard sticky-price model: a Bayesian approach" by P. Welz, May 2006.
- 622 "Short-term forecasts of euro area real GDP growth: an assessment of real-time performance based on vintage data" by M. Diron, May 2006.



- 623 "Human capital, the structure of production, and growth" by A. Ciccone and E. Papaioannou, May 2006.
- 624 "Foreign reserves management subject to a policy objective" by J. Coche, M. Koivu, K. Nyholm and V. Poikonen, May 2006.

